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INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ALABAMA
MIDDLE DIVISION

JOSH HOPKINS AND KRISTY
HOPKINS

Plaintiffs,
V. Case No. 4:18-cv-00315-K OB

NATIONWIDE AGRIBUSINESS
INSURANCE COMPANY, et al.

N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Before the court is Plaintiffs Josh and Kristy Hopkins’ motion to remand tbéstoahe
Circuit Court of Marshall County, Alabama. (Doc. 4). On January 26, 2017, the Hopkinses sued
Nationwide Agribusiness Insurance Company; Randy Jones & Associate3otat Radio
Service, Inc.; and the Hartford SteamilBolnspection & Insurance Compafor state law
claims arising out of an unpaid insurance claimh@Hopkinses’ poultry houses. (Doc. 1-1). On
February 28, 2018, Defendants Nationwide and Hartford removed the case to thiargourg
theHopkinses engaged in bad faith to prevent the removal before that time. (Doc. 1).

As explained below, the court finds that because this case was removed more than one
year afteiPlaintiffsfiled it in state courtand the Defendants have not shdtaet theHopkinses
wrongfully prevented the Defendants from removing the case to federaltbeumotion to
remand is due to be GRANTED. But the court also finds the Defendants did not lack an
objectively reasonableasis for removing the action, so the Hopkihseguest for costs

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1447(c) will be DENIED.
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I BACKGROUND

Plaintiffs Josh and Kristy Hopkins are poultry farmers who live and work in Alabama.
(Doc. 4-2at 2. In the spring of 2015heHopkinses purchased from Defendant Randy Jones &
Associatesn insurance policy to protect their poultry houskk.at 9). The Hopkinses allege
Jones & Associateserved as a “front line underwriter” for Defendants Nationwide and Hartford.
The policy that thédopkinses purtased wasssued by Nationwide, Hartford, or both, and
covered thedopkinses’ four poultry houses from April 24, 2015, to April 24, 2016.

In the summer of 2015, Defendant Total Radio Service performed electridalrsgr
work on three of the Hopkinsgsoultry houses.I(l. at 2).The houses contain electrical
equipment that monitors the temperature of the houses and sounds an alarm when the
temperature rises to a level that is harmful to the chickens withim {fek at 3).

In early September 2015, the Hopkinsgperienced electrical problems with the
controllers that regulate th®usestemperature and pressure cont(td. at 3). The temperature
within the houses rose to levels that the chickens could not endure, and because the sensors and
alarms did not properly detect the temperature or aleHidp&inses of the dangerous condition,
approximately 20,000 chickens perish&dde Hopkinses filed a claim on their policy with
Nationwide and Hartford, which was denied.

TheHopkinses then sued Nationwide, Hartfoddnes & Associateand Total Radio on
June 30, 2016. (Doc. B Their amended complaint contains claiagainsthe two insurer$or
breach ofcontract, bad faith, fraud, and conspiracy to fraudulently sgpnformation
regarding their deductibles and beneflisar claims againsfones & Associateslegethat the
company conspired with the insunce companiesnd negligently performeitk duties in the

underwriting inspection and in the procurement process. The Hopkilseeassetthat



Nationwideis vicariously liable forJones & Associates’ negligence. Finally, Bh@pkinses sued
Total Radio for negligently performing its work on the poultry houses’ alarm eqatpme
. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

TheHopkinses filed their initial Complaint on June 30, 2016, and their Amended
Complaint on January 26, 2017, in the Circuit Court of Marshall County, Alabama. Both
contained counts against diverse Defendants Nationwide and Hartford, and nse;dive
Alabama corporate Defendants Jo&eAssociatesand Total Radio. All four Defendants filed a
joint motion to transfer the case from Marshall County, Alabama to Morgan Couabgma on
January 11, 2017, which the state court ultimately denied. (Doc. 1-5 at 42).

During the state court litigation, th#opkinsesserved Jones & Associatesth three
requests for production and a request for admission concerning the residency ot®ne of i
employees, but never noticed or depoaegone fronthe company. (Doc. 1 at 13owever, the
request for production did inalle a request for the compangistire file related to the
Hopkinses, and a request the company’sinderwriting guidelines(Doc. 8 at 11).

TheHopkinses discovery requesto Total Radio in August 2016 were limited to two
requests for production. (Docs. 8 at 11; 1 at 12). Those requests sowffiioadl Radio’s
records related to theopkinses’ farm and its insurance polidhhe Hopkinses never noticed or
deposed Total Radio’s two experts.

OnDecember 4, 2017, the Hopkinses vaarily dismissed Total Radi¢Doc. 1-14 at
83). Approximately two months later, on February 14, 2@8Hopkinses voluntarily dismissed
all their claims againstones & Associateg¢Doc. 1-14 at 121). After these dismissals, only the
Hopkinse&claims against thdiverseinsurance companies remained, which gave rise to

Nationwide and Hartford’s removal of the case on February 28, 2018.



1. LEGAL STANDARD

The party seeking removal must present facts establishing its right@aweemd has the
burden of proving that federal jurisdiction exists by a preponderance of the evideace.g.,
Friedman v. N.Y. Life Ins. Ca}10 F.3d 1350, 1353 (11th Cir. 2005). When the defendant fails
to do so, the case must be remandfédliams v. Best Buy Co269 F.3d 1316, 1321 (11th Cir.
2001).

Generally, a defendant may remove a civil action filed in state court if a federal co
would have had original jurisdiction over the case. 28 U.S.C. § 1441(a). A district court has
original jurisdiction over cases in which the parties are of diverser#igp and the amount in
controversy exceeds $75,000, exclusive of interest and costs. 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a).

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1446(b)(3), a defendant may remove an action that was not
initially removabile if the action later becomesmovable. That statute provides tlaatefendant
seeking to remove a case that was not initially removable must file a noticeasMalenithin30
days of when he first ascertains that the action is remoudbks the statute indicates, a
defendant may be put on notice of removal by a pleading, motion, order or “other phpes.”
provide notice of removability, the “other paper” “must contain an unambiguous stateatent t
clearly establishes federal jurisdast.” Lowery v. Ala. Power Co483 F.3d 1184, 1215 n. 63
(11th Cir. 2007)citing Bosky v. Kroger Texas, LR88 F.3d 208, 211 (5th Cir. 2002)

But, a defendant seeking to remove an action based on diversity jurisdiction pursuant to §
1446(b)(3)must satisfy a second time requiremeiné defendant must file his notice of removal
no “more than 1 year after commencement of the action, unless the districtrudgithfit the
plaintiff has acted in bad faith in order to prevent a defendant from removindithe"a23

U.S.C. § 1446(c).
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Thus, for removal to be properthe present casthe Defendarst must have removed the
actionwithin thirty days of receiving notice that the case was removabtbwithin one year of
the date thélopkinsediled their suit. But, the will not enforce the ongear time limitif the
Defendantshow that the Hopkinses acted in bad faith to prevent removal. 28 U.S.C. § 1446(c).

V. ANALYSIS

Nationwide and Hartford removed this case alleging that complete divefrsity
citizenship exists pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 18#, “[a] case may not be removed . . . on the
basis of jurisdiction conferred by Section 1332 more than 1 year after commenoéthent
action, unless the district court finds that the plaintiff has acted in bad faith inopevent a
defendant from removing the action.” 28 U.S.C.A. § 1446@{bgHopkinsediled their initial
complaint in state court on June 30, 2016, and the Defendants did not remove the action until
February 28, 2018—one year, seven months, and 30 days after the case was filed.

Faced with the burden of demonstrating that federal jurisdictiatses@eFriedman
410 F.3d at 1353 (11th Cir. 2005), Nationwide and Hartford hang their hats on § 144%(@)’s
faith” exception to the ongear time limitfor removing actions on the basis of diversity. To
support their assertion that the Hopkineegagyed in bad faith to prevent the Defendants from
removing the case, Nationwide and Hartford asserthieddopkinsedailed to actively litigate
their claims against the locakendantsThey argue thatis failure to litigateconstitutes “bad
faith” and, therefore, removal igermitted

Nationwide and Hartfordlaim theHopkinses only engaged in “token discovery” against
the local Defendant¥ones & Associateand Total Radipand then dismissed them after the case
was set for trial by the Marsha&lounty, Alabama Circuit Courtheyrely on three factors to

show the Hopkinses did not activelfidate against the nediverse @fendants. First, the
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Hopkinses only proffered two discovery requédst$otal Radio and three requests for
production and one request for admisdimdones & AssociateSecond, they did not depose
any representative from either of the locatporations or their disclosed experts. Third, the
Hopkinses dismissed Total Radio “without compensation or any legitimate reasdnjbnes &
Associatesfor no apparent reason.” (Doc. 1 at 13).

Unable tocite any Eleventh Circuit law on this issue, the Defendants rely on, and ask this
court to adopt, the reasoning founddiguayo v. AMCO Ins. Cab9 F. Supp. 3d 1225 (D.N.M.
2014). Trere, the district court adopted the “actively litigated” test for determining whath
plaintiff has engaged in bddith to prevent removalThedistrict court reasoned that if a
plaintiff fails to “actively litigat” against the “removal spoilein state court, then that behavior
will be deemed “bad faithId. at 12621t explained that a plaintiff “actively litigates” by
“asserting valid claims, taking discovery, negotiating settlement, seekmgtdadgments if the
defendant does not answer thengbaint, et cetera.ld.

In the recent case dicAdam Properties, LLC v. Dunkin’ Donuts Franchising, |.2G0
F. Supp. 1279, 1285, 1291 (N.D. Ala. 2018), Judge Hopkins surveyed the history of the bad faith
exception, and noteallack of‘solid footing’ in cases decided since Congress added Section
1446(c) to the removal statute in 2011. Howesbewent on to state,

[b]Jased on Congress’s uskthe phrase “bad faithand the history of the

exception prior to its enactment as part of section 1446 nguatticular the

apdication of the exception when “manipulation” had occurred, the court

concludes that statutory bad faith requires some sort of intentional miscbgduct

the plaintiff, not just fraudulent joinder. All of the common law equitablenglli

cases cited [within this opinion] have that in comm®ee also, A.S. ex rel. Miller

v. SmithKline Beecham Cor@69 F.3d 204, 211 (3d Cir. 2014) (noting that

“[c]ases involving equitable tolling of the oryear time limit often focus on

intentional msconduct by the plaintiff’)Barnett v. Sylacauga AutopleX73 F.

Supp. 1358, 1367 (N.D. Ala. 1997) (Propst., J.) (“[T]he plaintiff's claims are in

bad faith if, by [his] actions, [he] attempted to disguise the existence of the
removability of the case tihthe oneyear limitation had run.”).




Id. at 1291 (emphasis in original).

Although not bound by Judge Hopkins’ decision, the court agrees with her reasoning that
the “bad faith” exception requires a showing that the plaintiff intentionatjpged in
misconduct to prevent removal before the gaar time limit expiredSo, the court declines
Nationwide and Hartford’s offer to adofiguayds “actively litigated” test.

This court also finds otheourts’ rationales for rejecting tlfeguayotestpersuasiver-or
example, irDutchmaid Logistics, Inc. v. Navistar, Inthe court noted th&guayotest’s
potential “to deter plaintiffs from dismissing defendants they realize areenessary, as well as
force plaintiffs to request meaningless discovery,” all to avoid triggera{jod faith”
exception. No. 2:1&V-857, 2017 WL 1324610, at *3 (S.D. Ohio Apr. 11, 20t&port and
recommendation adopteio. 2:16€V-857, 2017 WL 3085863 (S.D. Ohio July 18, 2017)).

Because this court rejects tAguayotest for bad faithit is not persuaded that
Nationwide and Hartfortiave met their burden to establish thattlopkinsesacted in bad faith
to prevent their case from being removed to federal coutheétdopkinsesargue, their claims
against Jones & Associatasd Total Radio were clearly intertwined with their claims against
their insurersNationwide and Hartford. And while the Hopkinses engaged in what Nationwide
and Hartford may consider “token” discovery against the twodieerse defendants, they are
“entitled to choose how they wish to litigate” their claifsitchmaid Logisticsat *4. Further, at
least one court that did empltye Aguayotest still recognizethat “even ‘bare minimum’
discovery attempts have been considered to not amount to badHettdck v. Rolling Frito
Lay sales, LPNo. C16-0822}CC, D16 4009849, at *3 (W.D. Wash. July 27, 2016). Here,
Plaintiffs sought and received the files of both Jones & Associates and Total Raditscahad

the benefit of their experts’ reports before dismissing them from the case.



Nationwide and Hartfial presated no evidence that the Hopkinses engaged in
intentional misconduct to prevent them from removing this case. Light discovery amdavgl
dismissal of claims approximately a year and-bak &ter filing suitarenot enough. This court
will not presumehata plaintiff that has engaged in small amounts of discovery against a
defendant has done so out of an intentional, mischievous effort to thwart another defendant’s
ability to remove the case to federal cotitvr will it assume a plaintiff's decisiaio voluntarily
dismiss a nomhverse defendant more than a year after filingtsuteprima facieevidence of
bad faith.Doing sowould be contrary to the presumptiagainst the exercise of federal
jurisdiction,seeRussell Corp. v. American Home Asswa Co, 264 F.3d 1040, 1050 (11th Cir.
2001); contrary to the policy that “all uncertainties as to removal jurisdictetodre resolved
in favor of remand,5ee Scimone v. Carnival Cor@20 F.3d 876, 882 (11th Cir. 2013); and
contrary tothe very purpose of § 1447(c), which is to prevent disruptive removal of cases after
substantial progress in the state court has been s@eMcAdam Properties, LLC290 F. Supp.
at 1290;Rauch v. Rauch46 F. Supp. 2d 432, 435-36 (D.S.C. 2008ice v. Messer872 F.

Supp. 317, 320 (S.D.W.Va. 1995).

Therefore, the court finds that Nationwide and Hartford have not met their burden to
establish that thelopkinsesacted in bad faith to prevent the removal of their case to federal
court. The Hopkinses’ motion to remand is due to be GRANTED.

Plaintiffs’ Request for Costs and Fees Pursuanta8 U.S.C. § 1447(c)

TheHopkinses request the court to require Nationwide and Hartford to pay the costs and
expenses they have incurred as a result of removal pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 81447(c). The Supreme
Court has established that “courts may award attorney's fees under § 1447(c) oalthethe

removing party lacked an objectively reasonable basis for seeking removedrs§sn, when an



objectively reasonable basis exists, felesuld be deniedMartin v. Franklin Capital Corp.
546 U.S. 132, 141 (2005).

The Eleventh Circuihas further explained that, “the reasonableness standard was
ultimately the result of balancing the desire to deter removals soughefputpose of
prolonging litigation and imposing costs on the opposing party, while not undermining
Congress’ basic decision to afford defendants a right to remove as a generaWwhatiehe
statutory criteria are satisfiedBauknight v. Monroe Ciy46 F.3d 1327, 1329 (11th Cir. 2006).

Nationwide and Hartfordrgue their removal of this case more than one year after its
commencement is justified because Hupkinses wrongfully prevented the removal by
retaining the non-diverse defendants in bad faltheyattemptedo suppat this argument by
relying onAguayo v. AMCO Insurance C&9 F. Supp. 3d 1225 (D.N.M. 2014), which provides
that a plaintiff's failure to “actively litigate” her case agaiasemovalspoiling defendant in
state court demonstratbad faith. Nationwide and Hartford recognize that the Eleventh Circuit
has not adopted thsguayotest for bad faith, but also recognize that neither the Circuit nor this
court has rejected the test or established any alternative in its Atatehile lidge Hopkins
recently required a showing of intentional misconduct to establish bad falibAdam
Properties, LLC v. Dunkin’ Donuts Franchising, LLZ90 F. Supp. 1279, 1285, 1291 (N.D. Ala.
2018), that decision does not bind this court.

Further, the Defendants provided examples of at least one other district cowgt in thi
Circuit that has adopted tAguayoanalysis See KamaHashmat v. Loews Miami Beach Hotel
Operating Co., InGg.No. 16CV-24864, 2017 WL 433209, at *4 (S.D. Fla. Jan. 27, 2017) (“The
Eleventh Circuit has not yet defined ‘bad faith’ in this context. In the absencédahge from

that court, this Court adopts the wetasoned twstage analysiy).



Although the court disagrees with the Defendants’ assertion that the Hopkinses
discovery efforts against the removal-spoileesemerely “token” discovery, the couatso
recognizes the lack &leventh Circuitase lawon the subject. Therefore, the court does not find
that Nationwide and Hartford lacked an objectively reasonable basis for rentioigicgse, and
will DENY the Hopkinses’ request for attorneys fees pursuant to § 1447(c).
V.CONCLUSION

The court finds that Nationwide and Hartford have not shown that the Hopkicteesin
bad faith to prevedrthe removal of this actiobefore the ongear time limit expiredTherefore,
the court WilREM AND this case to th€ircuit Court of Marshall County, Alabama. Alsbgt
court does not find that Nationwide and Hartford lacked an objectively reasonablbasis
removing the casepghe court wilIDENY theHopkinses’ request for attorneys fees pursuant to
28 U.S.C. § 1447(c). The court will enter a separate Order consistent with this Memorandum

Opinion.

DONE this 16th day of July, 2018.
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KARON OWEN BOWDRE
CHIEF UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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